UNIVERSITÁ DEGLI STUDI DI NAPOLI "FEDERICO II"



Dipartimento di Sanità Pubblica

Scuola di Dottorato in Sanità Pubblica e Medicina Preventiva

XXIX Ciclo

Coordinatore: Prof.ssa Stefania Montagnani

Tesi di dottorato di ricerca

IN VITRO EVALUATION OF THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF EXOSOMES DELIVERED BY HUMAN CARDIAC PRIMITIVE CELLS IN CARDIAC REGENERATION

RELATORE:

CANDIDATO:

Prof.ssa Clotilde Castaldo

Dott.ssa Immacolata Belviso

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	6
1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 FROM BENCH TO CLINIC	8
1.2 EXOSOMES	9
1.2.1 EXOSOMES BIOGENESIS	. 11
1.2.2 EXOSOMES STRUCTURE AND COMPONENTS	. 13
1.2.3 ROLES OF EXOSOMES	. 14
1.3 MYOCARDIUM SECRETES EXOSOMES	. 15
1.4 EXOSOMES IN CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE	. 16
2. HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS OF THE STUDY	. 18
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 19
3.1 CELL CULTURES	. 19
3.1.1 ISOLATION OF CARDIAC PRIMITIVE CELLS	. 20
3.1.2 ISOLATION OF CARDIAC FIBROBLASTS	. 21
3.2 ISOLATION OF EXOSOMES FROM CELL CULTURES	. 21
3.3. ANALYSIS OF mRNA BY REAL-TIME PCR	. 22
3.3.1 PURIFICATION AND ISOLATION OF RNA FROM EXOSOMES	. 22
3.3.2 cDNA SYNTHESIS	. 22
3.3.3. REAL-TIME PCR	. 23
3.4. EXOSOME LYSATES AND QUANTIFICATION OF PROTEIN CONTENT	. 24
3.4.1. GROWTH FACTORS ARRAY	. 24
3.5 EXOSOME ADMINISTRATION IN VITRO	. 25
3.5.1 PREPARATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF EXOSOMES CONDITIONED	25
3 5 2 EVALUATION OF PROLIFERATION AND APOPTOSIS OF CARDIAC	. 23
PRIMITIVE CELLS	. 25
3.5.3 EVALUATION OF MIGRATION OF CARDIAC PRIMITIVE CELLS	. 26
3.5.4 EVALUATION OF MATRIX DEPOSITION BY FIBROBLASTS	. 27
3.6 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	. 28
4. RESULTS	. 29
4.1 CELL CULTURES	. 29

	4.1.1 CHARACTERIZATION OF CPC POPULATION	29
	4.2 REAL-TIME PCR	29
	4.3 GROWTH FACTORS ARRAY	30
	4.4 PROLIFERATION AND APOPTOSIS OF CPC	31
	4.5 MIGRATION OF CPC	32
	4.6 MATRIX DEPOSITION BY FIBROBLASTS	32
5.	DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	34
7.	REFERENCES	57

ABBREVIATIONS

αSARC	Alpha Sarcomeric Actin
BM	Bone Marrow
cDNA	Complementary Deoxyribonucleic Acid
CDS	Coding Sequence
CF	Cardiac Fibroblast
CF-P	Cardiac Fibroblasts from Pathological Hearts
CMs	Cardiac Myocytes
CPC	Cardiac Primitive Cells
CPC-N	Cardiac Primitive Cells from Normal Hearts
CPC-P	Cardiac Primitive Cells from Pathological Hearts
Ct	Cycle Threshold
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DMEM/F12	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium/Nutrient Mixture F12
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
ECs	Endothelial Cells
EDTA	Ethylendiaminetetraacetic Acid
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
FGF-6	Fibroblasts Growth Factors-6
FGF-7	Fibroblasts Growth Factors-7

- GAPDH Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate Dehydrogenase
- IGF-1 Insulin Like Growth Factor 1
- EGFR Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
- ES Embryonic Stem Cells
- ESCRT Endosomal Sorting Complexes Required for Transport
- EVs Extracellular Vesicles
- Exo-CPC Exosomes from Cardiac Primitive Cells
- Exo-CPC-N Exosomes from Cardiac Primitive Cells of Normal Hearts
- Exo-CPC-P Exosomes from Cardiac Primitive Cells of Pathological Hearts
- FBS Foetal Bovine Serum
- HBSS Hank's Balanced Salt Solution
- HGF Hepatocyte Growth Factor
- HRP Horseradish Peroxidase
- HUVEC Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells
- iPSC Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
- LV Left Ventricle
- MHC I Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I
- MI Myocardial Infarction
- miRNA MicroRNA
- mRNA Messenger RNA
- MVB Multivesicular Bodies
- PDGFRα Platelet-derived Growth Factor Receptor Alpha
- PDGFRβ Platelet-derived Growth Factor Receptor Beta

- PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction
- PMSF Phenylmethanesulfonyl Fluoride
- RIPA Radio Immunoprecipitation Assay
- RNA Ribonucleic Acid
- SCF Stem Cell Factor
- SCFR Stem Cell Factor Receptor
- SDS Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
- SEM Standard Error Mean
- SMA Smooth Muscle Actin
- SMC Smooth Muscle Cells
- TGFβ Transforming Growth Factor Beta
- VEGF Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
- VEGFR2 Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 2
- VEGFR3 Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 3

ABSTRACT

Although, when injected, human Cardiac Primitive Cells (CPC) are not retained by host myocardium, they still improve cardiac function. Emerging evidence supports the hypothesis that exosomes may be responsible for beneficial effects induced by stem cells delivered in the infarcted myocardium. Exosomes are nano-sized vesicles naturally secreted by almost all cells and ubiquitously found in cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. Transporting and transferring peptides, lipids, and nucleic acids, exosomes have the potential to modulate signaling pathways, cell growth, migration, and proliferation of recipient cells. Accordingly, CPC may deliver chemoattractive, pro-survival and differentiating signals to resident cells through exosomes. To test our hypothesis, we isolated exosomes released in culture by CPC isolated from adult human myocardium (Exo-CPC) and analyzed the composition of their cargo and the effects elicited *in vitro* by their administration to resident population of CPC or fibroblasts.

Specifically, we searched for the presence of specific factors known to regulate CPC migration, survival and differentiation. Additionally, we tested *in vitro* the potential of Exo-CPC of either regulating CPC proliferation and programmed cell death, and modulating interstitial fibrosis, extracellular-matrix (ECM) synthesis and deposition. Interestingly, on one hand, signals delivered by Exo-CPC affected proliferation and survival of CPC and, on the other hand, regulated ECM protein production. Therefore, we might speculate that Exo-CPC have potential effect on both resident CPC and fibroblasts when injected in cardiac wall.

1. INTRODUCTION

Within the last two decades the most challenging purpose of cardiovascular regenerative medicine has been the restoration of myocardial integrity and function by cell-based or stem cell-based therapies, small molecules and tissue engineering-based or material-based methods (1).

The major approach in this field, to date, has been the replacement of lost or damaged tissues with new cells or to promote tissue regeneration by stem cell transplantation. Cell based therapy to treat the damaged heart, including injection of stem cells from various sources, have yielded mixed results in several species (2-4). Multiple experimental and several clinical studies have shown that different subsets of bone marrow-derived cells, isolated either from bone marrow (BM) or from peripheral blood, and other adult progenitor cells isolated from the cardiac tissue improved the recovery of heart function (5–11). Although the degree of improvement in cardiac function varies depending on the target population and cell type (8), there is mounting evidence that cell therapy is safe and does have a beneficial effect on left ventricle (LV) function (12) that translates into clinical benefit (10). One of the most important questions concerning cell therapies is to elucidate the mechanism by which stem/progenitor cells achieve functional improvement. A modest number of retained cells in the myocardium appeared to account for marked improvements in cardiac function as emerged from preclinical and clinical studies involving cell-based therapies (13). These observations have raised the possibility that grafted cells may amplify their effects by producing growth factors, cytokines, or other signaling entities that improve the performance or survival of resident or recruited cells. Several studies have suggested that a paracrine mechanism contributes significantly to myocardial repair triggered by cell-based therapies (14-16). More recently, pluripotent cells derived from embryonic stem cells (ES) or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC), obtained by cutting-edge cellular reprogramming technologies, have been considered as an innovative source of modern cell therapies (17). In 2006, Takahashi and Yamanaka discovered that fully differentiated cells, such as skin cells from mouse, could be made pluripotent by artificially activating four specific genes. These cells, called iPSC, could self-renew and differentiate like embryonic stem cells (18). The following year, iPSC were successfully reprogrammed from human skin cells too (19). iPSC provide a way to create genetically-matched pluripotent cells for patients, avoiding immune system incompatibility issues and ethical issues of embryonic stem cells.

1.1 FROM BENCH TO CLINIC

Although we are far from effective therapies, the positive outcomes of the clinical application of stem cell therapies has been remarkable, with thousands of trials currently registered in the National Institutes of Health clinical trials database (<u>www.clinicaltrials.gov</u>). Results from the early phase trials have demonstrated cell therapy as safe, feasible and potentially efficacious, in a wide range of diseases and medical fields, from cardiology (20), ischemic stroke (21) and peripheral ischemia (22), to cancer (23). Despite the enthusiastic results, for many of these therapies, therapeutic benefit cannot be attributed to stem cell

survival and differentiation, as they are not retained by organs (24-26). The beneficial effects of cell implants without cell survival and retention, along with well-researched trophic effects of the cell-conditioned culture medium suggest that secreted paracrine factors may be involved and could be responsible for the observed results (27,28). The paracrine hypothesis has been strengthened by the recent discovery that stem cells release not only soluble factors, like cytokines and chemokines, but also extracellular vesicles (EVs) eliciting similar biological activity to the stem cells themselves (28-31).

1.2 EXOSOMES

EVs are membrane surrounded structures released by cells in an evolutionarily conserved manner. Their diagnostic and therapeutic exploitation is now under intense investigation.

Extracellular vesicles are heterogeneous and a consensus on terminology for their different subtypes is yet to emerge. The major populations include exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic bodies. Exosomes size ranges between 40 and 100 nm, and they are considered membrane vesicles of endocytic origin secreted by most cell types under normal and pathological conditions. Microvesicles are shed directly from the plasma membrane and can be larger than exosomes (50-1000 nm) (32), (Fig 1 b), while apoptotic bodies originate at the cell membrane as cells undergo apoptosis (Fig 1 c). EVs can interact with target cells by two crucial mechanisms: transmembrane proteins on EVs can interact with receptors on the target cell membrane to initiate a signaling cascade (33, 34), or can directly fuse

with their target cells by endocytosis/transcytosis, with subsequent release of their content into the cytosol of the target cell.

Among EVs, exosomes in particular, had gained immense research interest over the last few years due to their promising diagnostic and therapeutic potential (35) as cell-free approach (36).

They were first described in a study to track the fate of recycling transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes (37). Exosomes have been found in a number of human body fluids, including blood plasma (38), urine (39), breast milk (40), amniotic fluid (41), (Fig 2). In 1940, Chargaff and others noted lipoproteins of a very high particle weight readily forming sediments in a strong centrifugal field but remaining in solution when subjected to weak centrifugal field (42). Despite the limited technology of the time, Chargaff & West (43) accurately predicted an important role of these particles in health and disease. Two decades later, Wolf and associates (44) isolated these particles from the subcellular fraction and resolved them using electron microscopy. Distinct small vesicles ranging from 20 to 50 nm were observed and were then termed platelet dust. The term exosomes was first coined by Johnstone and others to describe vesicles released from cultured maturing sheep reticulocytes (45, 46). These particles had enzymatic (e.g., acetylcholinesterase and transferrin) activity that was lost during reticulocyte-to-erythrocyte maturation. The first hypothesis was that these vesicles were a means to remove factors from the plasma membrane that were no longer needed by the mature erythrocyte (38). With the scientific progress, paracrine mechanisms became better understood and the field

of exosome biology spread out: particles once thought to be involved in waste management are now widely accepted as highly conserved elements in a pathway of short- and long-range communication. All the examined eukaryotic cell types, including hematopoietic cells, epithelial cells, neural cells, stem cells, adipocytes, and cancer cells secrete exosomes in culture (84).

1.2.1 EXOSOMES BIOGENESIS

The formation of exosomes starts from the cell surface, where proteins are internalized and delivered to early endosomes. In early endosomes, proteins can be recycled to the plasma membrane or delivered to late endosomes. By now, intraluminal endosomal vesicles are formed by budding of the endosomal limiting membrane into the lumen, forming multivesicular bodies (MVB). MVB can follow a different fate: they can fuse with lysosome for protein degradation, or merge with the plasma membrane, releasing the content into the extracellular space as exosomes (39, 47-48), (Fig 1 a). This mechanism presents an advantage to EV characterization, as exosomes can be further identified by markers of their biogenesis. Specifically, exosomes contain remnants of the ESCRT (endosomal sorting complexes required for transport) pathway, even if the markers associated with ESCRT are not entirely exclusive: some of the markers conserved in exosomes, such as tetraspanins (CD63, CD81, and CD9), are also present on the plasma membrane, in the cytosol, and in vesicles derived from membrane shedding (49). The wide presence of tetraspanins is likely due to the multiplicity of mechanisms in which these proteins are involved, including cell activation and proliferation, cell adhesion and motility, and cell differentiation. The endosomal system controls the uptake and processing of various types of macromolecules from the extracellular environment and the plasma membrane into the cell. It consists of different interconnected vesicular organelles, basically the primary endocytic vesicles, the early endosomes, the recycling endosomes, the late endosomes and the lysosomes (50). The process of MVB formation is coordinated by the ESCRT.

The ESCRT complexes are cytoplasmic proteins involved in membrane budding or bending events, such as multivesicular body biogenesis, the abscission step of cell division. This multiproteic structure, consisting of about thirty proteins, is assembled in four soluble complexes called ESCRT-0, ESCRT-I, ESCRT-II and ESCRT-III. The ESCRT-0 recognizes and sequesters ubiquitylated proteins in the endosomal membrane, whereas the ESCRT-I and -II appear to be responsible for membrane deformation into buds with sequestered cargo, and ESCRT-III components subsequently drive vesicle scission (51, 52), (Fig 3). The current knowledge of how MVBs are fated for either fuse with lysosomes to degrade their cargo or to fuse with the plasma membrane to release their intraluminal vesicles as exosomes into the extracellular environment is very preliminary. However, exosome production and release seem to depend on the activity of different Rab-GTPases and some of their effectors, which are known to regulate the vesicular transport between specific organelles (53). Rab proteins, reviewed in Stenmark 2009 (54), are essential regulators of intracellular vesicle transport between different compartments. Rabs can be involved in either vesicle budding,

mobility through interaction with the cytoskeleton, or tethering to the membrane of an acceptor compartment. The Rab family is composed of more than 60 GTPases, each of which is preferentially associated with one intracellular compartment.

RAB11 was the first Rab reported to be involved in exosome secretion.

1.2.2 EXOSOMES STRUCTURE AND COMPONENTS

Exosomes differ from each other in their composition, as they directly represent the proteome of the source cells. Analysis of urinary vesicles showed a link between exosomes containing aquaporin-2 and their origin from the urogenital tract (39). Several studies have shown that all mammalian exosomes share some common characteristics, for example the lipid bilayer structure, the size, the density and overall the composition in proteins. Some proteins are located on the surface, other in the lumen and are considered exosomal markers. Notably, these include cytoplasmic proteins such as tubulin, actin, actin-binding proteins, annexins and Rab proteins as well as molecules responsible for signal transduction, such as protein kinases and heterotrimeric G-proteins (55-57). Most exosomes also contain major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC I) molecules (58, 59) and heat-shock proteins such as Hsp70 and Hsp90 (60, 61). The protein family most commonly associated with exosomes is the tetraspanin including CD9, CD63, CD81 and CD82 (62-64). Consistent with their endosomal origin, there are typically no proteins of the nucleus, mitochondria, or endoplasmic reticulum detectable in exosomes (65).

Exosomes are also enriched in certain raft-associated lipids such as cholesterol (primarily B lymphocytes), ceramide (implicated in the differentiation of exosomes from lysosomes) other sphingolipids, and phospoglycerides with long and saturated fatty-acyl chains (66-68). Exosomes also show saccharide groups on their outer surface. This was investigated recently by Batista (69) who found that these were enriched in mannose, polylactosamine, α -2,6 sialic acid, and complex N-linked glycans. Exosomes have been reported to contain significant amounts of miRNA, other non-coding RNAs, as well as mRNA. Valadi et al. reported that, although the RNA appeared to be mostly degraded to less than 200 nt fragments, some full-length molecules must also be present, since the extracted RNA could be used to generate identifiable full-length proteins using an *in vitro* translation system (70). Several papers indicate that the RNA "cargo" of exosomes is significantly different from the parental cell content, i.e. certain RNAs are present at significantly different levels compared to the total cell lysate from the originating cells (71-73).

1.2.3 ROLES OF EXOSOMES

Once exosomes are secreted outside the cells, they can follow one of these three pathways: 1) they can be captured by neighboring cells or by the same cells that have given rise to them; 2) they can be internalized by cells that are within a certain distance; or alternatively, 3) they can enter the systemic circulation and, then, be taken up by different tissues (47). Exosomes, once thought to be only responsible for the removal of unnecessary proteins from the cells, are now

considered the key factor in cell–cell communication (74). In addition, they participate in several different functions and in a large variety of pathways, such as immune response, cardiovascular protection and cancer. Exosomes, first simply considered a garbage cane, are now viewed as specifically secreted vesicles that enable intercellular communication and have become the focus of exponentially growing interest, both to study their functions and to understand ways to use them in the development of a non-invasive diagnostics and therapy.

1.3 MYOCARDIUM SECRETES EXOSOMES

Exosomes are demonstrated to be mediators of extracellular communicators; therefore, it is fitting to propose that they can be important communicators of ischemic signaling and myocardial repair. Reports have suggested that the myocardial tissue secretes exosomes, and exosomes and microvesicles could be an important mechanism involved in heterocellular communication in the adult heart (75, 76), especially exosomes emerging from telocytes in the border zone of myocardial infarction (MI) (76). Barile et al (75) provided ultrastructural evidence for the first time that exosomes and microvesicles are secreted by the progenitor cells in a normal adult mouse heart. They have also demonstrated a possible uptake of exosomes by cardiomyocytes in the adult mouse heart. Recently, Sahoo and Losordo provided ultrastructural evidence of exosome-like vesicles packed in MVBs of CPC from cardiospheres, characterized by a large nucleus and a thin cytoplasm, in a healthy mouse heart, as well as in the cytoplasm of cardiac myocytes (CMs) from the left ventricle of a healthy human

and from a patient with ischemic heart disease (77). Electronic microscopy observations showed that murine and human CPC are able to produce exosomelike structures that are generated in MVBs (75, 77). These exosomes had a size of 30-90 nm and were enriched with proangiogenic miR-132, miR-146a and miR-210 that increased survival in cultured murine cardiomyocytes and induced tube formation in HUVEC cultures. Furthermore, treatment of rats with experimentally-induced IM by Exo-CPC resulted in the improvement of cardiac function, less profound cardiac apoptosis and enhanced intracardiac angiogenesis (78).

1.4 EXOSOMES IN CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE

Intercellular communication mediated by extracellular vesicles is crucial for preserving vascular integrity and in the development of cardiovascular and other diseases. In cancer, exosomes have been described to possess the ability to pass on malignancy from cell to cell and shape the environment by stimulating blood vessel formation, while concomitantly inhibiting immune response to the tumor (79-81).

In recent years, many published reports suggest that in addition to cancers and neurodegenerative disorders, major cardiovascular and metabolic pathologies like coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction, heart failure, and diabetes are highly influenced by the exosome-directed transfer of molecules. It has been demonstrated that exosomally delivered mRNA and miRNAs are translated and regulate gene expression of acceptor cells influencing their biology. They contribute to the maintenance of cardiovascular and arterial homeostasis as well as their pathologies and play a functionally significant role in processes such as immune response, tumor progression, proliferation and apoptosis (70, 82-84). At present, several promising strategies for the application of exosomes in cardiovascular therapy are under development. Stem-cell-derived exosomes have a great therapeutic potential for cardiac repair in regenerative medicine. Further, exosomes could be used as nanoparticles for targeted delivery of various bioactive molecules, such as miRNAs. For example, endothelial-specific miR-126 plays a key role in angiogenesis and vessel integrity and, therefore, could be used for vascular repair and regeneration (85).

2. HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS OF THE STUDY

As exosomes are thought to play a crucial role in cell-cell communication and this communication may occur as a result of the transfer of important molecules and genetic material, we hypothesized they have the potential to modulate signaling pathways, cell growth, migration, survival and proliferation of recipient cells and even to modulate the extracellular compartment, by affecting fibroblast synthesis of ECM proteins.

The overall aim of the study was to evaluate, *in vitro*, the effects on CPC and fibroblasts exerted by exosomes released by CPC isolated from adult human hearts.

More specific aims were to:

- isolate and characterize the composition of the cargo of exosomes delivered by CPC from both normal (Exo-CPC-N) and pathological (Exo-CPC-P) hearts in order to compare them with focus on the expression of growth factors and specific genes involved in cardiac development and differentiation.
- determine whether exosomes contain mRNA involved in cardiac development and differentiation, and if so:
- evaluate, *in vitro*, the effects elicited by the administration of Exo-CPC-N on CPC-P, in terms of cell proliferation, migration and survival;
- evaluate, *in vitro*, the effects of Exo-CPC-N on CF-P in terms of extracellular matrix deposition.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 CELL CULTURES

Cardiac tissue samples were obtained from normal and pathological adult human hearts. Samples of atrial appendages from normal hearts (n=11, 6 males and 5 females, mean age 35 ± 12 years) were collected from heart waste fragments of donors whose dead was not due to cardiovascular diseases, i.e. tissue trimmed off the heart while adjusting atrium size and form during organ transplantation. Pathological samples were taken from the corresponding region of explanted hearts of patients with end-stage heart failure due to ischemic cardiomyopathy and undergoing heart transplantation (n=20, 14 males and 6 females, mean age 56 ± 5.5 years, mean ejection fraction $25 \pm 1\%$). Cardiac tissue samples were dissected, minced, and enzymatically disaggregated by incubation in 0.25% trypsin and 0.1% (w/v) collagenase II (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) for 30 minutes at 37°C. The digestion was stopped by adding a double volume of Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS). This preparation was further disaggregated by pipetting and tissue debris and cardiomyocytes were removed by sequential centrifugation at 100g for 2 minutes, passage through $20\mu m$ sieve, and centrifugation at 400g for 5 minutes. Cell population was seeded on culture dishes in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium/Nutrient Mixture F-12 (DMEM/F-12, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich), 5% horse serum (Sigma-Aldrich), 10 ng/ml basic fibroblast growth factor (Peprotech, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA), 0.2

mM glutathione (Sigma-Aldrich), 5U/L erythropoietin, 50 μ g/ml porcine gelatine, 10,000 U penicillin and 10 mg/ml streptomycin (Life Technologies, Paisley, UK).

3.1.1 ISOLATION OF CARDIAC PRIMITIVE CELLS

Once the adherent cells were more than 75% confluent, they were detached with 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Sigma-Aldrich) and cell suspension was used to isolate cardiac primitive cells by immunomagnetic cell sorting (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). In particular, cell suspension first depleted of fibroblasts, was incubated with anti-human-CD117 MicroBeads to select the positive fraction of CD117(+) CPC. Both CPC-N and CPC-P were plated at a $2x10^{4}$ /cm² density and cultured with DMEM-Ham F12 medium (Sigma-Aldrich). To check effectiveness of sorting, cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 minutes at room temperature, blocked with 10% donkey serum and stained with primary antibody against human stem cell marker CD117 (mouse monoclonal, Merck Millipore, Billerica, Massachusetts, USA) Cells were then incubated with secondary antibodies conjugated with rhodamine (Jackson ImmunoResearch Europe, Newmarket, UK). Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (Merck Millipore) and stained area of culture dish was mounted in Vectashield (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA, USA). Microscopic analysis was performed with a Leica DMLB microscope equipped with epifluorescence EL6000 system (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) and connected to a digital camera DFC345FX (Leica Microsystems).

3.1.2 ISOLATION OF CARDIAC FIBROBLASTS

CF-P were isolated by outgrowth. Briefly, small fragments of specimens were placed in culture plates under cover glass and incubated with Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 10% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.5% penicillin and streptomycin (Life Technologies) in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in air. The medium was exchanged every 2-3 days to remove cell debris and maintain a physiological pH.

3.2 ISOLATION OF EXOSOMES FROM CELL CULTURES

Once CPC-N and CPC-P were 80-90% confluent, complete medium was replaced with a serum-free medium, which was collected after 48h and processed in order to isolate exosomes by *ExoQuick-TC Exosome Precipitation Solution kit* (System Biosciences, Mountain View, CA, USA). After a centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C to eliminate cells and cellular debris, the medium was incubated overnight at 4°C, with a polymeric resin, specific for exosomes isolation, according to the manufacturer's protocol. The pellet, containing exosomes obtained from the two populations of cells (Exo-CPC-N and Exo-CPC-P), was used to perform specific assays to analyze the content of their cargo.

3.3. ANALYSIS OF mRNA BY REAL-TIME PCR

3.3.1 PURIFICATION AND ISOLATION OF RNA FROM EXOSOMES

Pellet was resuspended in 700 μ l of *Trizol* (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA); the solution was vortexed and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes for a complete dissolution of nucleoproteic complexes. A volume of 90 μ l of chloroform was added to the resulting lysate and after a vigorous agitation and a centrifugation at 1200 rpm for 15 minutes at 4°C, the aqueous phase, holding the total RNA, was collected. The further steps of the extraction were performed using *RNeasy Micro* kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) with columns equipped with high affinity silicium membranes, according to the manufacturer's protocol. The RNA obtained was resuspended in 14 μ l of *RNase-free* water and quantified by spectrophotometric analysis with *Nanodrop2000* (Thermo Scientific).

3.3.2 cDNA SYNTHESIS

RNA extracted as described above, was then retrotranscribed into cDNA with *QuantiTect Reverse Transcription kit* (Qiagen). According to the manufacturer's protocol, 50 ng of each RNA were incubated for 2 minutes at 42°C with the reagent *gDNA Wipeout Buffer*, to eliminate remaining traces of genomic DNA in samples. To each sample was then added a reverse transcriptase enzyme (*Quantiscript Reverse Transcriptase*), deoxynucleotides and a mixture of *primers* containing both oligo (dT) and *random* hexamers; samples were further incubated for 20 minutes at 42°C and finally, for 3 minutes at 95 °C to deactivate

the enzyme.

3.3.3. REAL-TIME PCR

In order to assess the presence and the quantity of specific transcripts, a *Real-Time PCR* was performed using *PrecisionPLUSTM MasterMix* kit (Primerdesign, Southampton, UK) according to manufacturer's protocol.

The detection was performed by measuring the binding of the fluorescent dye SYBR Green I to double-stranded DNA. DNA amplification was carried out using Mastercycler ep realplex^{4S} (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany); the thermal cycling conditions included an initial enzyme activation at 95°C for 2 minutes and 40 cycles consisting of a denaturation step at 95°C for 15 seconds and an annealing step at 60°C for 60 seconds. Melt curve analysis was used to assess amplification of non-specific products and uniformity of product and primer dimers formation. Comparative quantification of target genes expression in the samples was based on cycle threshold (Ct) normalized to the housekeeping gene (GAPDH), using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). All the primers used in this study, listed in table 1, were designed with Primer3 software (<u>http://frodo.wi.mit.edu</u>) starting from the CDS (*coding sequence*) of mature mRNA available on GeneBank.

The PCR products were size-fractionated by electrophoresis in 2% agarose gel. The DNA bands were visualized and photographed under UV light exposure with FireReader XS D-55 imaging system equipped with 1D software (UVItec Limited, Cambridge, UK). To assess the length of amplicons, each product was compared with a known molecular weight marker (BenchTop pGEM DNA marker, Promega, Madison, WI, USA).

3.4. EXOSOME LYSATES AND QUANTIFICATION OF PROTEIN CONTENT

Protein extracts were prepared from both Exo-CPC-P and Exo-CPC-N. Pellet obtained as described previously, was resuspended in 200 µl of *RIPA buffer solution* (Tris-HCl pH 7.6 25 mM, NaCl 150 mM NP-40 1%, sodium deoxyicholate 1%, SDS 0.1%) containing prothease inhibitors (1 mM DTT, 2 mM PMSF, 2 µg/ml aprotinin and 10 µg/ml leupeptin), to promote the disruption of exosomes, vortexed for 15 seconds and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. Protein concentration was determined by *Bio-Rad Protein Assay* (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) using as a standard albumin from bovine serum (Sigma-Aldrich).

3.4.1. GROWTH FACTORS ARRAY

In order to determine the content of Growth Factors in exosome cargo, protein array was performed on both Exo-CPC-P and Exo-CPC-N, using Human Growth Factor Antibody Array C1 kit (RayBio®, Norcross, GA, USA), according to the manufacturer's protocol.

The array membranes bounding primary antibodies were blocked and incubated with each sample (100 μ g of protein).

After washing, the membranes were incubated with a cocktail of biotin-

conjugated antibodies, followed by an incubation with HRP-conjugated streptavidin in blocking buffer. Signals were detected by chemiluminescence and autoradiography.

3.5 EXOSOME ADMINISTRATION IN VITRO

3.5.1 PREPARATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF EXOSOMES CONDITIONED MEDIUM TO CPC-P

Based on results obtained with real-time PCR and growth factor array Exo-CPC-N from cardiac primitive cells isolated from normal hearts were used to prepare a conditioned medium, to test, *in vitro*, effects elicited by exosomes on both CPC-P and CF-P.

Exo-CPC-N were resuspended in specific medium at a concentration of 0,5 mg/ml and added to CPC-P and CF-P in culture. After treatment, morphology of cells was evaluated by phase contrast microscope observation with Nikon Eclipse T*i*-E DS-Qi2 Microscope (Nikon Instruments Europe, Holland).

3.5.2 EVALUATION OF PROLIFERATION AND APOPTOSIS OF CARDIAC PRIMITIVE CELLS

To evaluate proliferation and apoptosis, CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N and CPC-P not treated with Exo-CPC-N (control group) were stained with Cell-Clock Cell Cycle Assay (Biocolor, UK) and Cell-ApoPercentage Apoptosis Assay (Biocolor), respectively, according to the manufacturer's protocol. In particular, the first assay is a live-cell detection system employed to monitor the four major phases of the mammalian cell cycle during *in vitro* culture. Cells were

incubated at 37°C for 1 hour with a redox dye, taken up by live cells. Following dye uptake and incubation, a distinct color change occurs within cells, with particular color changes being associated with cells in the G1, S, G2 and M phases of the cycle.

Cell-ApoPercentage Apoptosis Assay, instead, is a detection and measurement system to monitor the occurrence of apoptosis in mammalian, anchorage-dependent cells during *in vitro* culture. CPC-P with or without Exo-CPC-N were first incubated with 3% hydrogen peroxide in the complete medium for 12 hours and stained with the ApoPercentage dye that is selectively imported by cells that are undergoing apoptosis.

Microscopic analysis was performed with a Leica DM2000 LED microscope (Leica Microsystems) equipped with a digital camera Leica ICC50 HD (Leica Microsystems). Data were expressed as mean percentage of cycling cells over total cells \pm SEM for Cell-Clock Cell Cycle Assay, and as mean percentage of stained cells over total cells for Cell-ApoPercentage Apoptosis Assay.

3.5.3 EVALUATION OF MIGRATION OF CARDIAC PRIMITIVE CELLS

To evaluate the speed of migration of CPC-P in the absence (control group) or presence of Exo-CPC-N, scratch wound assay was performed. Briefly, cells were grown to confluence and a thin scratch was produced in straight line on culture plates with a 10 μ l pipette tip, leaving a cell-free zone. Plates were placed under Nikon Eclipse T*i*-E DS-Qi2 Microscope (Nikon Instruments Europe) equipped with stage incubator (Okolab, Pozzuoli, Italy) and the migration was documented acquiring one picture every 10 minutes for 8 hours. Data were analysed by NIS software (Nikon) and expressed as mean speed of migration \pm SEM.

3.5.4 EVALUATION OF MATRIX DEPOSITION BY FIBROBLASTS

In order to evaluate effects of Exo-CPC-N on the deposition of ECM, CF-P treated with Exo-CPC-N and CF-P not treated with Exo-CPC-N (control group) were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 minutes at room temperature. After blocking with 10% donkey serum, plates were first incubated with primary antibody against human fibronectin (rabbit polyclonal, Sigma-Aldrich), human collagen I (mouse monoclonal, Sigma-Aldrich), collagen III (mouse monoclonal, Sigma-Aldrich), collagen IV (rabbit monoclonal, Sigma-Aldrich) human laminin (mouse monoclonal, Sigma-Aldrich), and tenascin (mouse monoclonal, Sigma-Aldrich), for 1 hour at 37°C and then were incubated for 1 hour at 37°C with secondary antibodies conjugated with fluorescein or rhodamine (Jackson ImmunoResearch Europe). Nuclei were counterstained with 4'-6-diamidino-2phenylindole (DAPI) (Merck Millipore) and stained area of culture dish was mounted in Vectashield (Vector Labs). Microscopic analysis was performed with Nikon Eclipse Ti-E Microscope DS-Qi2 (Nikon Instruments Europe) by three independent observers. Synthesis and deposition of ECM proteins was compared in treated and untreated using an arbitrary scale ranging from negative (-) in case of immunonegativity, to triple positive (+++), in case of strong immunopositivity.

3.6 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All numerical data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Statistical differences between groups were evaluated with Student's two-tailed unpaired t-test. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4. **RESULTS**

4.1 CELL CULTURES

Observation by phase contrast microscope provided images of primary cell cultures (Fig 4) obtained from normal (A) and pathological (B) adult human hearts. Phase contrast microscope image of CF-P are shown in Fig 5.

4.1.1 CHARACTERIZATION OF CPC POPULATION

Immunofluorescence for CD117 confirmed the purity of cell population obtained by immunomagnetic cell sorting from primary cardiac cell culture (as described in Materials and Methods section 3.1.1). Purity of sorted cells reached 98% (Fig 6). Phase contrast microscope images show sorted populations of both CPC-N (Fig 7 A) and CPC-P (Fig 7 B).

4.2 REAL-TIME PCR

The pellet obtained after centrifugation of medium collected from CPC-N and CPC-P in culture, was significant and sufficient to extract RNA.

qPCR analysis of Exo-CPC cargo revealed that Exo-CPC-N and Exo-CPC-P carry specific transcripts for proteins involved in cardiac and mesenchymal differentiation.

Notably, exosomes delivered by both CPC-N and CPC-P transport specific transcripts for cardiac cell progenitors or precursors of cardiomyocyte, as Mef2C, Nkx2.5 and Alpha Sarcomeric Actin (α -SARC), and smooth muscle cells

(SMCs), as GATA6 and Smooth Muscle Actin (SMA). Further, they also carry transcripts for mesenchymal cells, as TM4SF1, SOX9, CD90 and CD106 (Fig 8). No transcripts were found for proteins that prompt endothelial lineage differentiation, like FVIII and Ets-1. Comparing expression levels obtained with the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method for mRNAs from Exo-CPC-N and EXO-CPC-P, statistically significant differences only emerged for Mef2C (fold change 0.32 ± 0.04) and Nkx2.5 (fold change 0.25 ± 0.00), mainly carried by Exo-CPC-N, and for SMA (fold change 8.63 ± 0.8) and TM4SF1 (fold change 3.08 ± 0.14) mainly carried by Exo-CPC-P (Fig 9).

4.3 GROWTH FACTORS ARRAY

Protein array performed to analyze growth factor cargo of Exo-CPC, revealed differences in the content of Exo-CPC-N and Exo-CPC-P. The comparison of the two membranes clearly showed that Exo-CPC-N carried factors mostly involved in biological processes like cell proliferation and differentiation, as EGF (Epidermal Growth Factor), FGF-6 and FGF-7 (Fibroblasts Growth Factors-6 and 7). Further, they show a considerably higher amount of IGF-1 (Insulin Like Growth Factor) which is a potent modulator of stem cell replication, commitment to the myocyte lineage and differentiation, and SCF (Stem Cell Factor) responsible for preserving stem cells characteristics and guiding them to niches. On the contrary, they did not carry factors involved in tumorigenesis and angiogenesis processes, as TGF (Transforming Growth Factor), HGF (Hepatocyte Growth Factor) nor VEGF (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor) at

all, clearly present in Exo-CPC-P. Additionally, a higher expression of receptors VEGFR2, VEGFR3 and SCFR in Exo-CPC-P emerged. The assay did not reveal, in Exo-CPC-N, the presence of receptors like SCFR, EGFR, PDGFR α and PDGFR β , essential for mediation of signals and cell/tissue response (Fig 10).

4.4 PROLIFERATION AND APOPTOSIS OF CPC

After treatment with specific dye, microscopic analysis of CPC-P in culture with or without Exo-CPC-N revealed that although morphology did not differ significantly (Fig 11; A, B; Fig 12; A, B), the presence of Exo-CPC-N clearly affects both proliferation and apoptosis. Notably, CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N showed higher proliferation rate compared to control group, as indicated by the ratio of cells in S to M phases (Fig 11; C, D). In the presence of Exo-CPC-N the proportion of proliferating cells in M phase reached a percentage of 20.52 \pm 4.43%, while the control group showed a lower amount of proliferating cells in the same phase, equal to 1.068 \pm 0.79%. The percentage of cells in G2-S phase was 14.19 \pm 0.63% in CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N, against a 27.48 \pm 2.13% observed in CPC-P untreated. No statistically significant differences were observed for cells in G1 phase, that showed a percentage of 65.28 \pm 5.04 and 71.45 \pm 2.42% for CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N and untreated, respectively (Fig 11 E).

From microscopic analysis also appeared that the presence of Exo-CPC-N prevented CPC-P apoptosis induced by oxidative stress, as demonstrated by the lower amount of nuclei stained with the dye, selective for apoptotic cells (Fig 12;

C, D). In fact, oxidative stress, *in vitro*, induced apoptosis in only $2.25 \pm 0.31\%$ in case of CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N, while untreated CPC-P resulted more susceptible to apoptosis, showing a higher percentage of apoptotic nuclei, equal to $26.74 \pm 8.08\%$ (Fig 12 E).

4.5 MIGRATION OF CPC

The scratch wound assay performed, is a simple, reproducible assay commonly used to measure basic cell migration parameters such as speed, persistence and polarity. Cells at the wound edge polarize and migrate into the wound space. Cell migration was monitored in real time by time-lapse imaging which can also yield valuable cell morphology and localization. Scratched area of cell monolayer was recorded every 10 minutes for 8 hours (Fig 13). Results obtained indicated that migration is not affected by administration of Exo-CPC-N, as the speed of migration appeared almost the same in CPC-P treated with exosomes (11.28 \pm 1.34) compared to control group (11.43 \pm 1.31) (Fig 13 E). After the scratch, cell migration was observed both in CPC-P untreated and treated with Exo-CPC-N, but full wound healing only occurs after 8 hours for both cell populations (Fig 13; C, D).

4.6 MATRIX DEPOSITION BY FIBROBLASTS

Immunostaining performed on CF-P showed effects exerted by Exo-CPC-N on different extracellular matrix proteins, their deposition and synthesis (Fig 14). In general, when cultured in Exo-CPC-N conditioned medium, CF-P exhibited less

elongated morphology. From microscopic observation CF-P treated with Exo-CPC-N showed a stronger immunopositivity for collagen IV (Fig 14 F), while no significantly differences were found for collagen I and III, all proteins providing tensile strength and structural integrity, but also playing a role in cell adhesion and migration. Fibronectin, that influences cell growth and response to injury, like wound repair, shows a dramatic higher expression and well-arranged pattern in treated CF-P compared to control group, as indicated by the more intense emission of fluorescence (Fig 14; D, H). On the contrary, synthesis of laminin, important for activating specific signaling networks governing adhesion, migration and differentiation, decreased in the presence of Exo-CPC-N (Fig 14; G). Finally, tenascin, associated with cell migration, especially fibroblast migration and epithelial-mesenchymal/mesenchymal-epithelial transition did not show consistent differences in the presence or absence of Exo-CPC-N in CF-P in culture. Differences observed for synthesis and deposition of collagen IV, laminin and fibronectin are summarized in Tab 2.

5. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Stem cells or progenitor cells are presently our best therapeutic candidate to treat intractable degenerative or genetic diseases. In fact, many of these stem or progenitor cells are being tested in clinical trials to treat many different diseases such as acute myocardial infarction. The hypothesis that stem cells could exert therapeutic activity through their secretions is highly plausible as stem cell secretions are known to include many biologically potent molecules such as growth factors, cytokines, chemokines, and bioactive lipids that could elicit wide-ranging physiological effects (86). Growing evidence suggest that adult stem cells may exert dramatic effects in the repair of various tissues through secreted factors including exosomes and EVs (87). Indeed, up to 80% of the therapeutic activities of adult stem cells in infarcted hearts have been shown to occur through paracrine mediated effects (88), giving rise to the novel notion of stem cell therapy without cells (87). Exosomes are secreted by cardiac and vascular cells and stem cells in culture (89, 90-92). Moreover, exosomes have been shown to mediate communication between endothelial cells (ECs) and SMCs (93), ECs and pericytes (94), CMs and ECs (95) and fibroblasts and cardiac myocytes CMs (96). Recently, Sahoo and Losordo (77) provided ultrastructural evidence of exosome-like vesicles packed in MVBs of a CPC in a healthy mouse heart, as well as in the cytoplasm of CMs from the left ventricle of a healthy human and from a patient with ischemic heart disease. Very few studies, including the present study, have investigated the therapeutic potential of human Exo-CPC and characterized the content of their cargo. In particular, we determined the presence of specific growth factors in Exo-CPC-N and Exo-CPC-P. Protein array for growth factors revealed remarkable differences between the content of Exo-CPC-N and Exo-CPC-P suggesting that exosomes secreted by CPC-N could be the best candidate to treat cardiac diseases. As a matter of fact, we found that Exo-CPC-N carry growth factors involved in biological processes like cell proliferation, development, differentiation and migration (EGF, FGF-6, FGF-7, IGF-1) (97), and the SCF, exerting a crucial role in maintenance of stem cells compartment. All these factors could potentially boost cardiac repair mainly through endogenous stem cell homing and activation. Exo-CPC-P, instead, transport considerably higher amount of growth factors mainly involved in tumorigenesis and angiogenesis (TGF, HGF, VEGF), strengthening the hypothesis that cardiac disease affect CPC compartment too, and that Exo-CPC-N are preferable candidates for treating cardiovascular diseases. However, CPC-P transport higher amount of receptors like VEGFR2, VEGFR3 and SCFR, stimulating angiogenesis, essential to prevent heart failure through the control of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and contractility and ensuring promptness to respond to SCF stimulation. In addition to growth factors, exosomes are lipid vesicles, which represent ideal vehicles to deliver genetic materials, such as mRNA, from one cell to another, and fulfill their function. In recent years, many published reports suggest that in addition to cancers and neurodegenerative disorders, major cardiovascular and metabolic pathologies like coronary artery disease, myocardial infarction and heart failure are highly influenced by the exosome-

directed transfer of molecules (98-100). It has been demonstrated that exosomally delivered mRNAs and miRNAs are translated and regulate gene expression of acceptor cells influencing their biology (101). Our findings by Real-time PCR analysis of Exo-CPC cargo revealed the presence of transcripts specific for cardiac or mesenchymal differentiation in Exo-CPC-N as well as in Exo-CPC-P. A primary obstacle to functional recovery of the infarcted or failing human heart is the limited proliferative capacity of cardiomyocytes and their insufficient mechanism for regeneration. The loss of cardiomyocytes after injury, in fact, cannot be compensated and a strategy to replace them could be inducing resident CPC to differentiate to new, healthy cardiomyocytes. Hence, Exo-CPC-N, seem to be suitable candidates for a therapeutic approach, as they show a best potential of delivering signals to prompt differentiation to cardiomyocyte, expressing higher levels of Nkx2.5 and Mef2c, while in Exo-CPC-P we found signals inducing mostly smooth muscle or mesenchymal cell differentiation, as they expressed high levels of SMA and TM4SF1. Additionally, the delivery of CPC-N secreted factors to CPC-P might lead CPC-P ahead of the differentiation block which prevents progenitors to proceed towards precursor state, already documented (102). The diversity of this EV content provides a rationale for the many reported stem cell-based therapeutic outcomes. With increasing evidence that EVs are major mediators of intercellular communication in many cell types (103, 104), it is likely that EVs also perform similar functions for stem cells. As such, EVs are likely to support the hypothesis that stem cells exert therapeutic activity through their secretions by communicating therapeutic signals from stem

cells to recipient cells to initiate repair and regeneration. EVs from CPC have also been reported to be efficacious in cardiovascular disease; in particular, they inhibited cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improved cardiac function after MI in animal models, ameliorated the deleterious consequences of myocardial ischemia, and enhanced cardiogenesis (105-108). Further, exosomes enhanced endothelial migration and were also shown to reduce myoblast apoptosis in vitro and decrease myocyte cell death in an animal MI model (106). Here, we tested, in vitro, potential effects exerted by Exo-CPC-N on capacity for migration, proliferation and susceptibility to apoptosis of CPC-P. On the basis of results obtained from analysis of Exo-CPC cargo, we considered plausible exclusively administrating Exo-CPC-N to CPC-P and CF-P. A similar speed of migration was observed for CPC-P either in the presence or absence of Exo-CPC-N, probably due to growth factors enhancing migration, found both in Exo-CPC-N (IGF1 and FGF6) and Exo-CPC-P (HGF). We also reported that, even if morphology did not differ significantly, probably due to presence of specific growth factors, CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N conditioned medium had an increased proliferation rate, as demonstrated by the ratio of cells in active phases of cell cycle. At the same time, it was apparent that Exo-CPC-N could represent cardioprotective factors for CPC-P, preventing apoptosis induced by oxidative stress.

It is well-researched that the fate of the cell is determined by coordinated and dynamic interactions among a number of factors, acting in a defined microenviroment. In particular, stem cells are highly sensitive to extracellular

37

signals that play a critical role in maintenance of stem cells characteristics, differentiation, and interplay with somatic cells (109). Cellular cross talk plays a central role both in cardiac homeostasis and in adaptive responses of the heart to stress. Chronic adaptive responses to stress, referred to as cardiac remodeling, include interstitial fibrosis, CMs hypertrophy, and changes in contractility and blood vessel density (110). Post MI, the proliferation of fibroblasts lead to the formation of non-contractile scar tissue (111), which, when combined with the extensive cardiomyocyte death (77), leads to long-term systolic dysfunction. In the damaged heart, fibroblasts are stimulated by cytokines such as TGF- β , which leads to exacerbation of extracellular matrix production (112), and enhanced fibrosis (113). CPC have been shown to exert potentially anti-fibrotic effects by transferring exosomes to fibroblasts and by promoting cardiac myocyte survival In this study, we investigated if Exo-CPC-N produced any *in vitro* (94). changing in the synthesis and deposition of ECM by CF-P, and if any difference occurred analyzing composition of ECM in terms of proteins and comparing them to the control group. ECM account for approximately 24% of myocardial volume and network rearrangement and enlargement is an essential component of cardiac remodeling at various pathological stages (114). The ECM elasticity determines stem cell lineage specification, expansion and differentiation (115) and (116), in the heart, ECM exhibits all the mechanical properties and provides a framework required for differentiation of cardiac stem cells (117). In any necrotic tissue, fibronectin and collagen deposition and disarrangement is responsible for scar formation, which preserves wall integrity and thickness.

These proteins present unique expression pattern, with high levels during organogenesis, virtual absence in normal adult tissue, and re expression in response to injury and tissue regeneration. In the heart, osteopontin, osteonectin, thrombospondin, tenascin, and CNN family are the matricellular proteins identified so far (118), but laminin-1 also fulfills the requirements (119). Given these properties, extracellular matrix, and matricellular proteins in particular, can drive cardiac tissue regeneration, described in adult human heart in infarction or pressure overload (120). From the observation of CF-P in culture with Exo-CPC-N conditioned medium emerged differences in the deposition of collagen IV and fibronectin, while synthesis of collagen I and collagen III remained almost constant when compared to the control group. Interestingly, synthesis of laminin seemed to slightly decrease in CF-P treated with Exo-CPC-N. Moreover, Exo-CPC-N seem to revert fibronectin disarrangement in vitro, conferring to mentioned ECM protein deposit an ordered and organized pattern. These changings could validate our hypothesis that Exo-CPC-N could positively affect the extracellular compartment during the response to injury.

There is now ample evidence of the effective recapitulation of the therapeutic efficacy of stem cells by their secreted EVs. This renders stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles a compelling alternative off-the-shelf, cell-free therapeutic modality that could be effective, safer, and cheaper. However, realizing this promising therapeutic modality of stem cell EVs would require extensive testing to validate their safety and efficacy (121).

The use of stem cell-derived EVs instead of stem cells engraftment might open new perspectives for cardiac regenerative therapies. This would first resolve safety concerns related to uncontrolled dissemination of transplanted cells or aberrant stem cell differentiation. In addition, immunosuppressive effects reported for certain EVs could favor efficient cardiac tissue regeneration (122). Moreover, since exosomes could be easily stored and keep their biological properties over an extended storage period, they can overcome many of the limitations linked to the use of viable cells in regenerative medicine. However, further investigations would be needed to optimize their characterization, quality, and purification in order to accurately control their production in the perspective of clinical uses (123).

Cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disorders experiences only limited success due to cells retention and engraftment issues as well as potential immunogenicity. Exosome-based treatment options, however, provide cell-free therapeutic candidates that offer to provide comparable benefits. One of the most active areas of translational research is to identify the most effective cell type and environment for generation of most effective cardio-protective and cardioregenerative exosomes (89, 124, 125).

6. ICONOGRAPHY



A. Ibrahim and E. Marban, Annual Review of Physical Chemistry; 2016

Fig. 1

Formation of two different multivesicular bodies (MVBs) through invagination of the plasma membrane (a). Steps 1–4 (red): Invagination of the plasma membrane to form a secretory endosome (1), followed by budding of payload into the endosomal membrane to form multivesicular endosomes (2). Maturation of the late endosome through acidification (3) triggers fusion with the plasma membrane and release of exosomes (4). Representation of microvesicles (b) andapoptotic bodies (c).



A. Ibrahim and E. Marban, Annual Review of Physical Chemistry; 2016

Exosomes are nanosized particles with a diameter range of 30–100 nm, enriched in various types of lipids, and secreted by all cell types. Markers ubiquitous in most exosomes include tetraspanins (CD9, CD63, and CD81); heat shock proteins; adhesion molecules; and markers of the ESCRT (endosomal sorting complexes required for transport) pathway, including LAMP1 and TSG101.



A. Ibrahim and E. Marban, Annual Review of Physical Chemistry; 2016

Image representing the four ESCRT complexes. ESCRT 0 complex proteins (B represents a ubiquitin group bound to a protein substrate) recognize ubiquitinated protein and recruit ESCRT I, which in turn recruits ESCRT II and triggers membrane involution. ESCRT III complexes cause further invagination of the membrane and ultimately both membrane abscission and budding of the proteins into the lumen of the endosome and the elimination of ubiquitin outside the endosome.

REAL-TIME PRIMERS						
GENE	FORWARD PRIMER REVERSE PRIMER	AMPLICON LENGTH (nt)				
GAPDH	5'-CTCTCTGCTCCTCCTGTTCG-3'	114				
	5'-ACGACCAAATCCGTTGACTC-3'					
Mef2C	5'-AGGCAGCAAGAATACGATGC-3'	88				
	5'-TACGGAAACCACTGGGGTAG-3'					
ACTC1	5'-TCGGGACCTCACTGACTACC-3'	125				
(a-Sarcomeric Actin)	5'-TACGGAAACCACTGGGGTAG-3'	125				
NIKY2 5	5'-ACTTGAATGCGGTTCAGAGC-3'	127				
NKA2.5	5'-GAGTCAGGGAGCTGTTGAGG-3'	157				
ETC1	5'-TGGGGACATCTTATGGGAAC-3'	0.0				
EISI	5'-TGGATAGGCTGGGTTGACTC-3'	00				
	5'-GCTCTGGGATTATGGGATGA-3'	20				
F VIII	5'-TCTTGAACTGAGGGACACTGC-3'	80				
CATAC	5'-GTGTGCAATGCTTGTGGACT-3'	102				
GAIA6	5'-TGTTCTTAGGTTTTCGTTTCCTG-3'	103				
ACTA2	5'-CTGAGCGTGGCTATTCCTTC-3'	100				
(Smooth Muscle Actin)	5'-CTGAGCGTGGCTATTCCTTC-3	133				
CD 00	5'-CTAGTGGACCAGAGCCTTCG-3'	100				
CD90	5'-GCCCTCACACTTGACCAGTT-3'	198				
	5'-AAAATGGAAGATTCTGGGGTT-3'					
CD106	5'-TTGACACTCTCAGAAGGAAAAGC-3'	134				
	5'-ATGCCTCCGAAAACCACCTC-3'					
TM4SF1	5'-GCACATCGTTTGCCACAGTT-3'	157				
001/0	5'-CCAACGCCATCTTCAAGG-3'	1.4.1				
80.89	5'-CCAACGCCATCTTCAAGG-3'	141				

Tab. 1

Γ

List of primer sequences used for Real-time PCR analysis.

٦



Phase contrast microscope images of primary cell cultures obtained from normal (A) and pathological (B) adult human hearts.



Phase contrast microscope image of CF-P in culture.



D

Fig. 6

Immunomagnetic cell sorting: preventive cardiac fibroblasts depletion from primary culture (A) and CD117(+) cardiac primitive cells isolation (B-C). Fluorescence microscope images of CD117(+) cardiac primitive cells (D).



Phase contrast microscope images of CPC-N (A) and CPC-P (B) in culture.



Agarose (2.5%) gel electrophoresis of PCR products. (A) Cardiac differentiation transcripts; (B) Mesenchymal differentiation transcripts.



Expression levels of mRNAs from Exo-CPC-N and Exo-CPC-P. Statistically significant differences, indicated by * (p<0.05), only emerged for MEF2C, Nkx2.5, SMA and TM4SF1.

	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	H	I	J	K	L
1	POS	POS	NEG	NEG	AREG	bFGF	b-NGF	EGF	EGFR	FGF-4	FGF-6	FGF-7
2	POS	POS	NEG	NEG	AREG	bFGF	b-NGF	EGF	EGFR	FGF-4	FGF-6	FGF-7
3	G-CSF	GDNF	GM CSF	HB EGF	HGF	IGFBP 1	IGFBP 2	IGFBP 3	IGFBP 4	IGFBP 6	IGF-1	IGF-1 sR
4	G-CSF	GDNF	GM CSF	HB EGF	HGF	IGFBP 1	IGFBP 2	IGFBP 3	IGFBP 4	IGFBP 6	IGF-1	IGF-1 sR
5	IGF-2	M-CSF	M-CSF R	NT-3	NT-4	PDGF R alpha	PDGF R beta	PDGF AA	PDGF AB	PDGF BB	PLGF	SCF
6	IGF-2	M-CSF	M-CSF R	NT-3	NT-4	PDGF R alpha	PDGF R beta	PDGF AA	PDGF AB	PDGF BB	PLGF	SCF
7	SCF R	TGF alpha	TGF beta	TGF beta 2	TGF beta 3	VEGF	VEGF R2	VEGF R3	VEGF D	BLANK	BLANK	POS
8	SCF R	TGF alpha	TGF beta	TGF beta 2	TGF beta 3	VEGF	VEGF R2	VEGF R3	VEGF D	BLANK	BLANK	POS

A

Exo-CPC-N







С

Fig. 10

Growth Factor array analysis of Exo-CPC-N and Exo-CPC-P cargo. Table of searched Growth Factors (A); membranes with spots representing Growth Factors carried by Exo-CPC-N (B) and Exo-CPC-P (C).





Microscopic images of vital stainings of CPC-P in culture, either in the absence (A, C) or presence (B, D) of Exo-CPC-N. Phase contrast images of CPC-P (A, B); cells in G1-S-G2-M phase of cell cycle (C, D). Proliferative (E) rates of CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N and CPC-P untreated (control group). Statistically significant results are indicated by * (p<0.05).





Phase contrast microscope images of CPC-P in absence (A) or presence (B) of Exo-CPC-N. Images of apoptotic cells after Cell-ApoPercentage Apoptosis assay (C, D). Apoptotic rates (E) of CPC-P treated with Exo-CPC-N and CPC-P untreated (control group). Statistically significant results are indicated by * (p<0.05).



Microscopic images of migration of CPC-P, either in the absence (A, C) or presence (B, D) of Exo-CPC-N. T0 (A, B) and after 8 hours (C, D). Speed of migration of CPC-P untreated and treated with Exo-CPC-N (E). No statistically significant differences were observed.



Phase contrast microscope images of CF-P in culture, either in the absence (A) or presence (E) of Exo-CPC-N. Fluorescence microscope images of CF-P in culture, either in the absence (B, C, D) or presence (F, G, H) of Exo-CPC-N. Collagen IV and Nuclei of cells (B, F); Laminin and Nuclei of cells (C, G); Fibronectin and Nuclei of cells (D, H).

PROTEIN	CF-P TREATED	CF-P UNTREATED
Collagen IV	++	+
Laminin	+	++
Fibronectin	+++	++

Tab. 2

Framework of results observed for synthesis and deposition of collagen IV, laminin and fibronectin quantified using an arbitrary scale ranging from negative (-) in case of immunonegativity, to triple positive (+++) in case of strong immunopositivity.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. De Jong OG, Van Balkom BW, Schiffelers RM, Bouten CV, Verhaar MC. *Extracellular vesicles: potential roles in regenerative medicine*. Front Immunol; 5:608; 2014.
- Assmus B, Schachinger V, Teupe C, Britten M, Lehmann R, Dobert N, Grunwald F, Aicher A, Urbich C, Martin H, Hoelzer D, Dimmeler S, Zeiher AM. *Transplantation of progenitor cells and regeneration enhancement in acute myocardial infarction (TOPCARE-AMI)*. Circulation; 106:3009–3017; 2002.
- Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D, Baker M, Limana F, Chimenti S, Kasahara H, Rota M, Musso E, Urbanek K, Leri A, Kajstura J, Nadal-Ginard B, Anversa P. *Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration*. Cell; 114:763–776; 2003.
- Linke A, Muller P, Nurzynska D, Casarsa C, Torella D, Nascimbene A, Castaldo C, Cascapera S, Bohm M, Quaini F, Urbanek K, Leri A, Hintze TH, Kajstura J, Anversa P. Stem cells in the dog heart are self-renewing, clonogenic, and multipotent and regenerate infarcted myocardium, improving cardiac function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA; 102:8966–8971; 2005.
- Yoon CH, Hur J, Park KW, Kim JH, Lee CS, Oh IY, Kim TY, Cho HJ, Kang HJ, Chae IH, Yang HK, Oh BH, Park YB, Kim HS. Synergistic neovascularization by mixed transplantation of early endothelial progenitor cells and late outgrowth endothelial cells: the role of angiogenic cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases. Circulation; 112:1618–1627; 2005.
- Losordo DW, Henry TD, Davidson C, Lee JS, Costa MA, Bass T, Mendelsohn F, Fortuin FD, Pepine CJ, Traverse JH, Amrani D, Ewenstein BM, Riedel N, Story K, Barker K, Povsic TJ, Harrington RA, Shatz RA; the ACT34-CMI Investigators. *Intramyocardial, autologous CD34+ cell therapy for refractory angina.* Circ Res; 109:428–436; 2011.

- Bolli R, Chugh AR, D'Amario D, Loughran JH, Stoddard MF, Ikram S, Beache GM, Wagner SG, Leri A, Hosoda T, Sanada F, Elmore JB, Goichberg P, Cappetta D, Solankhi NK, Fahsah I, Rokosh DG, Slaughter MS, Kajstura J, Anversa P. Cardiac stem cells in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy (SCIPIO): initial results of a randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet; 378:1847–1857; 2011.
- 8. Chugh AR, Beache GM, Loughran JH, Mewton N, Elmore JB, Kajstura J, Pappas P, Tatooles A, Stoddard MF, Lima JA, Slaughter MS, Anversa P, Bolli R. *Administration of cardiac stem cells in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the SCIPIO trial: surgical aspects and interim analysis of myocardial function and viability by magnetic resonance.* Circulation; 126:54–64; 2012.
- Williams AR, Hatzistergos KE, Addicott B, McCall F, Carvalho D, Suncion V, Morales AR, Da Silva J, Sussman MA, Heldman AW, Hare JM. Enhanced effect of human cardiac stem cells and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells to reduce infarct size and restore cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Circulation; 127:213–223; 2012.
- 10. Leistner DM, Fischer-Rasokat U, Honold J, Seeger FH, Schächinger V, Lehmann R, Martin H, Burck I, Urbich C, Dimmeler S, Zeiher AM, Assmus B. *Transplantation of progenitor cells and regeneration enhancement in acute myocardial infarction (TOPCARE-AMI): final 5-year results suggest long-term safety and efficacy*. Clin Res Cardiol; 100:925–934; 2011.
- 11. Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, Malliaras K, Thomson LE, Berman D, Czer LS, Marbán L, Mendizabal A, Johnston PV, Russell SD, Schuleri KH, Lardo AC, Gerstenblith G, Marbán E. *Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial.* Lancet; 379:895–904; 2012.
- 12. Clifford DM, Fisher SA, Brunskill SJ, Doree C, Mathur A, Watt S, Martin-Rendon E. *Stem cell treatment for acute myocardial infarction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev*; 2:CD006536; 2012.
- 13. Mackie AR, Klyachko E, Thorne T, Schultz KM, Millay M, Ito A, Kamide CE, Liu T, Gupta R, Sahoo S, Misener S, Kishore R, Losordo DW. Sonic hedgehogmodified human CD34+ cells preserve cardiac function after acute myocardial infarction. Circ Res; 111:312–321; 2012.

- 14. Wollert KC, Drexler H. *Cell therapy for the treatment of coronary heart disease: a critical appraisal*. Nat Rev Cardiol; 7:204–215; 2010.
- 15. Tongers J, Losordo DW, Landmesser U. *Stem and progenitor cell-based therapy in ischaemic heart disease: promise, uncertainties, and challenges.* Eur Heart J; 32:1197–1206; 2011.
- 16. Ratajczak MZ, Kucia M, Jadczyk T, Greco NJ, Wojakowski W, Tendera M, Ratajczak J. *Pivotal role of paracrine effects in stem cell therapies in regenerative medicine: can we translate stem cell-secreted paracrine factors and microvesicles into better therapeutic strategies*? Leukemia; 26:1166–1173; 2012.
- 17. Vishnubhatla I, Corteling R, Stevanato L, Hicks C, Sinden J. *The development of stem cell-derived exosomes as a cell-free regenerative medicine*. J Circ Biomark; 3:2I; 2014.
- 18. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell; 126(4):663-76; 2006.
- 19. Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J, Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA. *Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells*; Science; 318(5858):1917-20; 2007.
- 20. Matsa E, Sallam K, Wu JC. *Cardiac stem cell biology: glimpse of the past, present, and future.* Circulation Research; 114:21-27; 2014.
- 21. Sinden JD, Vishnubhatla I, Muir KW. *Prospects for stem cell-derived therapy in stroke;* Progress in Brain Research; 201:119-167; 2012.
- 22. Raval Z, Losordo DW. Cell therapy of peripheral arterial disease: from experimental findings to clinical trials. Circulation Research; 112:1288-1302; 2013.
- 23. Cieri N, Mastaglio S, Oliveira G, Casucci M, Bondanza A, Bonini C. Adoptive immunotherapy with genetically modified lymphocytes in allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Immunological Reviews; 257:165-180; 2014.

- 24. Gnecchi M, Zhang Z, Ni A, Dzau VJ. *Paracrine mechanisms in adult stem cell signaling and therapy*. Circulation Research; 103:1204-1219; 2008.
- 25. Hicks C, Stevanato L, Stroemer RP, Tang E, Richardson S, Sinden JD. *In vivo* and in vitro characterization of the angiogenic effect of CTX0E03 human neural stem cells. Cell Transplantation; 22:1541-1552; 2013.
- 26. Katare R, Stroemer P, Hicks C, Stevanato L, Patel S, Corteling R, Miljan E, Vishnubhatla I, Sinden J, Madeddu P. *Clinical-grade human neural stem cells* promote reparative neovascularization in mouse models of hindlimb ischemia. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology; 34:408-418; 2014.
- 27. Bi B, Schmitt R, Israilova M, Nishio H, Cantley LG. *Stromal cells protect against acute tubular injury via an endocrine effect*. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology; 18:2486-2496; 2007.
- 28. Parekkadan B, van Poll D, Suganuma K, Carter EA, Berthiaume F, Tilles AW, Yarmush ML. *Mesenchymal stem cell derived molecules reverse fulminant hepatic failure*. PloS One; 2:941; 2007.
- 29. Camussi G, Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V. *Role of stem-cell-derived microvesicles in the paracrine action of stem cells*. Biochemical Society transactions; 41:283-287; 2013.
- 30. Timmers L, Lim SK, Arslan F, Armstrong JS, Hoefer IE, Doevendans PA, Piek JJ, El Oakley RM, Choo A, Lee CN, Pasterkamp G, de Kleijn DP. *Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium*. Stem cell research; 1:129-137; 2007.
- 31. Timmers L, Lim SK, Hoefer IE, Arslan F, Lai RC, van Oorschot AAM, Goumans MJ, Strijder C, Sze SK, Choo A, Piek JJ, Doevendans PA, Pasterkamp G, de Kleijn DPV. *Human mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium improves cardiac function following myocardial infarction*. Stem cell research; 6:206-214; 2011.
- 32. Lai RC, Chen TS and Lim SK. *Mesenchymal stem cell exosome: a novel stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease*. Regenerative medicine; 6:481-492; 2011.

- 33. Cocucci E, Racchetti G, Meldolesi J. *Shedding Microvesicles: artefacts no more*. Trends Cell Biol; 19:43-51; 2009.
- 34. Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. *Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends*. J Cell Biol; 200:373-83; 2013.
- 35. Cossetti C, Iraci N, Mercer TR, Leonardi T, Alpi E, Drago D, Alfaro-Cervello C, Saini HK, Davis MP, Shaeffer J, Vega B, Stefanini M, Zhao CJ, Muller W, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Mathivanan S, Bachi A, Enright AJ, Mattick JS, Pluchino. *Extracellular vesicles from neural stem cells transfer INF-gamma via Ifngr1 to activate Stat1 signaling in target cells*. Mol Cell; 56:193-204; 2014.
- 36. Simpson RJ, Jensen SS, Lim JW. Proteomic profiling of exosomes: current perspectives. Proteomics; 8(19):4083-99; 2008.
- 37. Fuster-Matanzo A, Gessler F, Leonardi T, Iraci N, Pluchino S. Acellular approaches for regenerative medicine: on the verge of clinica trials with extracellular membrane vesicles? Stem Cell Research & Therapy; 6:227; 2015.
- 38. Johnstone R M. *Exosomes biological significance: a concise review. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Deseases;* Vol. 36(2):315-321; 2006.
- 39. Johnstone R M, Adam M, Hammond J R, Orr L, Turbide C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). The Journal of Biological Chemistry; 262:9412-9420; 1987.
- 40. Caby MP, Lankar D, Vincendeau-Scherrer C, Raposo G, Bonnerot C. *Exosomallike vesicles are present in human blood plasma*. Int Immunol; 17(7):879-87; 2005.
- 41. Pisitkun T, Shen RF, Knepper MA. *Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA; 101(36):13368-73; 2004.
- 42. Admyre C, Johansson SM, Qazi KR, Filèn JJ, Lahesmaa R, Norman M, Neve EP, Scheynius A, Gabrielsson S. *Exosomes with immune regolatory features are present in human breast milk*. J Immunol; 179(3):1969-78; 2007.

- 43. Keller S, Rupp C, Stoeck A, Runz S, Fogel M, Lugert S, Hager HD, Abdel-Bakky MS, Gutwein P, Altevogt P. *CD24 is a marker of exosomes secreted into urine and amniotic fluid*. Kidney Int; 72(9):1095-102; 2007.
- 44. Thakur BK, Zhang H, Becker A, Matei I, Huang Y, Costa-Silva B, Zheng Y, Hoshino A, Brazier H, Xiang J, Williams C, Rodriguez-Barrueco R, Silva JM, Zhang W, Hearn S, Elemento O, Paknejad N, Mantova-Todorova K, Welte K, Bromberg J, Peinado H, Lyden D. *Double-stranded DNA in exosomes: a novel biomarker in cancer detection*. Cell Res; 24:766–69; 2014.
- 45. Chargaff E, West R. *The biological significance of the thromboplastic protein of blood.* J Biol Chem; 166:189–97; 1946.
- 46. Wolf P. *The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma*. Br J Haematol; 13:269–88; 1967.
- 47. Pant S, Hilton H, Burczynski ME. *The multifaceted exosome: biogenesis, role in normal andaberrant cellular function, and frontiers for pharmacological and biomarker opportunities.* Biochem Pharmacol; 83:1484–94; 2012.
- 48. Hanson PI, Shim S, Merrill SA. *Cell biology of the ESCRT machinery*. Curr Opin Cell Biol; 21:568–74; 2009.
- 49. Mayers JR, Audhya A. Vesicle formation within endosomes: An ESCRT marks the spot. Commun Integr Biol; 5:50–56; 2012.
- 50. Alcazar O, Hawkridge AM, Collier TS, Cousins SW, Bhattacharya SK, Muddiman DC, Marin-Castano ME. *Proteomics characterization of cell membrane blebs in human retinal pigment epithelium cells*. Mol Cell Proteom; 8:2201–11; 2009.
- 51. Scita G, Di Fiore PP. The endocytic matrix. Nature; 463(7280):464-73; 2010.
- 52. Hurley JH, Hanson PI. Membrane budding and scission by the ESCRT machinery: it's all in the neck. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol; 11(8):556-66; 2010.
- 53. Im YJ, Wollert T, Boura E, Hurley JH. *Structure and function of the ESCRT-II-III interface in multivesicular body biogenesis.* Dev Cell; 17(2):234-43; 2009.

- 54. Ostrowski M, Carmo NB, Krumeich S, Fanget I, Raposo G, Savina A, Moita CF, Schauer K, Hume AN, Freitas RP, Goud B, Benaroch P, Hacohen N, Fukuda M, Desnos C, Seabra MC, Darchen F, Amigorena S, Moita LF, Thery C. *Rab27 and Rab27b control different steps of the exosome secretion pathway*. Nat Cell Biol; 12(1):19-30; sup pp 1-13; 2010.
- 55. Stenmark H. *Rab GTPases as coordinators of vesicle traffic*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol; 10(8):513-25; 2009.
- 56. Thery C, Boussac M, Veron P, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Raposo G, Garin J, Amigorena S. *Proteomic analysis of dendritic cell-derived exosomes: a secreted subcellular compartment distinct from apoptotic vesicles.* J Immunol; 166:7309–18; 2001.
- 57. Skokos D, Le PS, Villa I, Rousselle JC, Peronet R, Namane A, David B, Mécheri S. *Nonspecific B and T cell-stimulatory activity mediated by mast cells is associated with exosomes.* Int Arch Allergy Immunol; 124:133–6; 2001.
- 58. Skokos D, Le PS, Villa I, Rousselle JC, Peronet R, David B, Namane A, Mécheri S. Mast cell-dependent B and T lymphocyte activation is mediated by the secretion of immunologically active exosomes. J Immunol; 166:868–76; 2001.
- 59. Blanchard N, Lankar D, Faure F, Regnault A, Dumont C, Raposo G, Hivroz C. *TCR activation of human T cells induces the production of exosomes bearing the TCR/CD3/zeta complex.* J Immunol; 168:3235–41; 2002.
- 60. Wolfers J, Lozier A, Raposo G, Regnault A, Thery C, Masurier C, Flament C, Pouzieux S, Faure F, Tursz T, Angevin E, Amigorena S, Zitvogel L. *Tumorderived exosomes are a source of shared tumor rejection antigens for CTL crosspriming.* Nat Med; 7:297–303; 2001.
- 61. Thery C, Zitvogel L, Amigorena S. *Exosomes: composition, biogenesis and function*. Nat Rev Immunol; 2:569–79; 2002.
- 62. Escola JM, Kleijmeer MJ, Stoorvogel W, Griffith JM, Yoshie O, Geuze HJ. Selective enrichment of tetraspan proteins on the internal vesicles of multivesicular endosomes and on exosomes secreted by human B-lymphocytes. J Biol Chem; 273:20121–7; 1998.

- 63. Bard MP, Hegmans JP, Hemmes A, Luider TM, Willemsen R, Severijnen LA, van Meerbeeck JP, Burgers SA, Hoogsteden HC, Lambrecht BN. *Proteomic analysis of exosomes isolated from human malignant pleural effusions*. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol; 31:114–21; 2004.
- 64. Chaput N, Taieb J, Andre F, Zitvogel L. *The potential of exosomes in immunotherapy*. Expert Opin Biol Ther; 5:737–47; 2005.
- 65. Mears R, Craven RA, Hanrahan S, Totty N, Upton C, Young SL, Patel P, Selby PJ, Banks RE *Proteomic analysis of melanoma-derived exosomes by twodimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry.* Proteomics; 4:4019–31; 2004.
- 66. Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S, Rajendran L, Wenzel D, Wieland F, Schwille P, Brugger B, Simons M. *Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes*. Science; 319:1244–1247; 2008.
- 67. Subra C, Laulagnier K, Perret B, Record M. *Exosome lipidomics unravels lipid sorting at the level of multivesicular bodies*. Biochimie; 89:205–212; 2007.
- 68. Wubbolts R, Leckie RS, Veenhuizen PT, Schwarzmann G, Mobius W, Hoernschemeyer J, Slot JW, Geuze HJ, Stoorvogel W. *Proteomic and biochemical analyses of human B cell-derived exosomes. Potential implications for their function and multivesicular body formation.* J Biol Chem; 278:10963– 10972; 2003.
- 69. Batista BS, Eng WS, Pilobello KT, Hendricks-Munoz KD, Mahal LK. *Identification of a conserved glycan signature for microvesicles*. J Proteome Res; 10(10)4624-33; 2011.
- 70. Valadi H, Ekstrom K, Bossios A, Sjostrand M, Lee JJ, Lotvall JO. *Exosome*mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nat Cell Biol; 9(6):654-9; 2007.
- 71. Mittelbrunn M, Gutiérrez-Vázquez C, Villarroya-Beltri C, González S, Sánchez Cabo F, González MA, Bernad A, Sánchez-Madrid F. Unidirectional transfer of microRNA-loaded exosomes from T cells to antigen-presenting cells. Nat Commun; 2:282; 2011.

- 72. Skog J, Wurdinger T, Van Rijn S, Meijer DH, Gainche L, Sena-Esteves M, Curry Jr WT, Carter BS, Krichevsky AM, Breakefield XO. *Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers*. Nat Cell Biol; 10:1470–1476; 2008.
- 73. Zomer A, Vendrig T, Hopmans ES, van Eijndhoven M, Middeldorp JM, Pegtel DM. *Exosomes: fit to deliver small RNA*. Commun Integr Biol; 3:447–450; 2010.
- 74. Wang W, Lotze MT. *Good things come in small packages: exosomes, immunity and cancer*. Cancer Gene Ther; 21:139–41; 2014.
- 75. Barile L, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Moccetti T, Vassalli G. Ultrastructural evidence of exosome secretion by progenitor cells in adult mouse myocardium and adult human cardiospheres. J Biomed Biotechnol.; 2012:354605; 2012.
- 76. Manole CG, Cismaşiu V, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM. *Experimental acute myocardial infarction: telocytes involvement in neo-angiogenesis.* J Cell Mol Med; 15:2284–2296; 2011.
- 77. Sahoo S and Losordo DW. *Exosomes and cardiac repair after myocardial infarction*. Circulation Research, 114:333–344; 2014.
- 78. Barile L, Lionetti V, Cervio E, Matteucci M, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Torre T, Siclari F, Moccetti T, Vassalli G. *Extracellular vesicles from human cardiac progenitor cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improve cardiac function after myocardialinfarction*. Cardiovasc. Res; 103:530–541; 2014.
- 79. Clayton A. Cancer cells use exosomes as tools to manipulate immunity and the microenvironment. Oncoimmunology; 1(1):78–80; 2012.
- 80. Epple LM, Griffiths SG, Dechkovskaia AM, Dusto NL, White J, Ouellette RJ, Anchordoquy TJ, Bemis LT, Graner MW. *Medulloblastoma exosome proteomics yield functional roles for extracellular vesicles*. PloS One; 7(7):e42064; 2012.
- 81. Taylor DD, Gercel-Taylor C. Exosomes/microvesicles: mediators of cancerassociated immunosuppressive microenvironments. Seminars in Immunopathology; 33(5):441–54; 2011.

- 82. Montecalvo A, Larregina AT, Shufesky WJ, Stolz DB, Sullivan ML, Karlsson JM, Baty CJ, Gibson GA, Erdos G, Wang Z, Milosevic J, Tkacheva OA, Divito SJ, Jordan R, Lyons-Weiler J, Watkins SC, Morelli AE. *Mechanism of transfer of functional microRNAs between mouse dendritic cells via exosomes*. Blood; 119(3):756–66; 2012.
- Mittelbrunn M, Sanchez-Madrid F. Intercellular communication: diverse structures for exchange of genetic information. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology; 13(5):328–35; 2012.
- 84. Ibrahim A, Marban E. *Exosomes: fundamental biology and roles in cardiovascular physiology*. Annual Review of Physiology; 78:67-83; 2015.
- 85. Wang S, Aurora AB, Johnson BA, Qi X, Mc Anally J, Hill JA, Richardson JA, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN. *The endothelial specific microRNA miR-126 governs vascular integrity and angiogenesis*. Dev Cell; 15:261–271; 2008.
- 86. Anthony D, Shiels P. *Exploiting paracrine mechanisms of tissue regeneration to repair damaged organs*. Transplant Res; 2:10; 2013.
- 87. Maguire G. *Stem cell therapy without the cells*. Communicative and integrative biology;6(6):e26631; 2013.
- 88. Chimenti I, Smith RR, Li TS, Gerstenblith G, Messina E, Giacomello A, Marbàn E. Relative roles of direct regeneration versus paracrine effects of human cardiosphere-derived cells transplanted in to infarcted mice. Circulation Research; 106(5):971-980; 2010.
- 89. Gray WD, French KM, Ghosh-Choudhary S, Maxwell JT, Brown ME, Platt MO, Searless CD, Davis ME. *Identification of Therapeutic covariant microRNA clusters in hypoxia treated cardiac progenitor cell exosomes using systems biology*. Circ Res; 116(2):255-263; 2015.
- 90. Akyurekli C, Le Y, Richardson RB, Fergusson D, Tay J, Allan DS. *A systematic review of preclinical studies on the therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stromal cell-derived microvesicles*. Stem cell rev; 11(1):150-60; 2015.
- 91. Lamichhane TN, Sokic S, Schardt JS, Raiker RS, Lin JW, Jay SM. *Emerging roles for extracellular vesicles in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine*. Tissue Eng Part B Rev; 21(1), 45-54;2014.

- 92. Barile L, Lionetti V, Cervio E, Matteucci M, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Torre T, Siclari F, Moccetti T, Vassalli G. *Extracellular vesicles from human cardiac progenitor cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improve cardiac function after myocardial infarction*. Cardiovasc Res; 103:530-541; 2014.
- 93. Hergenreider E, Heydt S, Tréguer K, Boettger T, Horrevoets AJ, Zeeiher AM, Scheffer MP, Frangakiss AS, Yin X, Mayr M, Braun T, Urbch C, Boon RA, Dimmeler S. Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. Nat Cell Biol; 14(3):249-56; 2012.
- 94. Emanueli C, Shearn AIU, D'Angelini G, Sahoo S. *Exosomes and exosomal miRNAs in cardiovascular protection and repair*. Vascul Pharmacol; 71:24-30; 2015.
- 95. Wang X, Huang W, Liu G, Cai W, Millard RW, Wang Y, Chang J, Peng T, Fan GC. *Cardiomyocytes mediate anti-angiogenesis in type2 diabetic rats through the exosomal transfer of miR-320 into endothelial cells*. J Mol Cell Cardiol; 74:130-50; 2014.
- 96. Bang C, Batkai S, Dangwal S, Gupta SK, Foinquinos A, Holzmann A, Just A, Remke J, Zimmer K, Zeug A, Poonimaskin E, Schmiedl A, Yin X, Mayr M, Halder R, Fischer A, Engelhardt S, Weiyschober A, Fiedler J, Thum T. Cardiac fibroblast-derived microRNA passenger strand-enriched exosomes mediate cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. J Clin Invest; 124(5):2136-46; 2014.
- 97. Schuldiner M, Yanuka O, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Melton DA, Benvenisty N. *Effects of eight growth factors on the differentiation of cells derived from human embryonic stem cells.* PNAS; 97(21):11307-11312; 2000.
- 98. Valadi H, Ekstrom K, Bossios A, Sjostrand M, Lee JJ, Lotvall JO. *Exosome*mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. Nature Cell Biology; 9(6),654-9; 2007.
- 99. Montecalvo A, Larregina AT, Shufesky WJ, Stolz DB, Sullivan ML, Karlsson JM, Gibson GA, Erdos G, Wang Z, Milosevic J, Tkacheva OA, Divito SJ, Jordan R, Lyons-Weiler J, Watkins SC, Morelli AE. *Mechanism of transfer of functional microRNAs between mouse dendritic cells via exosomes*. Blood; 119(3),756-66; 2012.

- 100. Ibrahim A, Marban E. *Exosomes: fundamental biology and roles in cardiovascular physiology*. Annual Review of Physical Chemistry; 78:67-83; 2016.
- 101. Kishore R, Srikanth Garikipati VN, Gumpert A. *Tiny shuttles for information transfer: exosomes in cardiac health and disease*. J of cardiovasc trans Res; 9:169; 2016.
- 102. Nurzynska D, Di Meglio F, Romano V, Miraglia R, Sacco AM, Latino F, Bancone C, Della Corte A, Maiello C, Amarelli C, Montagnani S, Castaldo C. *Cardiac primitive cells become committed to a cardiac fate in adult human heart with chronic ischemic disease but fail to acquire mature phenotype: genetic and phenotypic study.* Basic Res Cardio; 108:320; 2013.
- 103. El Andaloussi S, Mager I, Break Efield XO, Wood MJ. Extracellular vesicles: Biology and emerging therapeutic oppurtunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov; 12:347-357; 2013.
- 104. Tetta C, Ghigo E, Silengo L, Deregibus MC, Camussi G. *Extracellular vesicles as an emerging mechanism of cell- to cell communication*. Endocrine. 44:11-19; 2013.
- 105. Barile L, Lionetti V, Cervio E, Matteucci M, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Torre T, Siclari F, Moccetti T, Vassalli G. *Extracellular vesicles from human cardiac progenitor cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improve cardiac function after myocardial infarction*. Cardiovasc Res; 103:530-541; 2014.
- 106. Chen L, Wang Y, Pan Y, Zhang L, Shan C, Qin G, Ashraf M, Weintraub N, Ma G, Tang Y. Cardiac progenitor- derived exosomes protect ischemic myocardium from acute ischemia-reperfusion injury. Biochem Biophis Res. Commun.; 431:566-571; 2013.
- 107. Ibrahim AG, Cheng K, Marban E. *Exsosomes as critical agents of cardiac regeneration triggered by cell therapy*. Stem Cell Rep; 2:606-619; 2014.
- 108. Vrijsen KR, Sluijter JP, Schuchardt MW, van Balcom BW, Noort WA, Chamuleau SA, Doevendans PA. *Cardiomyocyte progenitor cell-derived exosomes stimulate migration of endothelial cells*. J Cell Mol Med; 14:1064-1070; 2010.

- 109. Quensberry PJ, Aliotta J, Deregibus MC, Camussi G. Role of extracellular RNA-carrying vesicles in cell differentiation and reprogramming. Stem cell research & Therapy; 6:153; 2015.
- 110. Cervio E, Barile L, Moccetti T, Vassalli G. *Exosomes for intramyocardial intercellular communication*. Stem Cells international; 2015:482171; 2015.
- 111. Hill JA, Olson EN. Cardiac Plasticity. New Engl J Med; 358:1370-1380; 2008.
- 112. Brigstock DR. Connective Tissue Growth factor (ccn2, ctgf) and organ fibrosis: lessons from transgenic animals. J Cell Comm; 4:1-4; 2010.
- 113. Liu S, Shi-wen X, Abraham DJ, Leask A. *Ccn2 is required for bleomycininduced skin fibrosis in mice*. Arthritis Rheum; 63:239-246; 2011.
- 114. Valeri I Kapelko. *Extracellular matrix alterations in cardiomyopathy: the possible crucial role in the dilatative form*. Exp Clin Cardiol. 6(1):41-49; 2001.
- 115. Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE. *Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification*. Cell; 126:677-689; 2006.
- 116. Mishra PK, Chavali V, Metreveli N, Tyag SC. *Ablation of MMP9 induces survival and differentiation of cardiac stem cells into cardiomyocytes in the heart of diabetics: a role of extracellular matrix.* Can J Physiol Pharmacol; 90:353-360; 2012.
- 117. Eitan Y, Sarig U, Dahan N, Machluf M. *Acellular cardiac extracellular matrix as a scaffold for tissue engineering: in vitro cell support, remodeling, and biocompatibility.* Tissue Eng Part C Methods; 16:671-683; 2010.
- 118. Okamoto H; Imanaka-Yoshida K. *Matricellular proteins: new molecular targets to prevent heart failure*. Cardiovasc Ther; 30(4):198-209; 2012.
- 119. Castaldo C, Di Meglio F, Nurzynska D, Romano G, Maiello C, Bancone C, Müller P, Böhm M, Cotrufo M, Montagnani S. *CD117-positive cells in adult human heart are localized in the subepicardium, and their activation is associated with laminin-1 and alpha-6 integrin expression.* Stem Cells; 26:1723-1731;2008.

- 120. Cesselli D, Beltrami AP, D'Aurizio F, Marcon P, Bergamin N, Toffoletto B, Pandolfi M, Puppato E, Marino L, Signore S, Livi U, Verardo R, Piazza S, Marchionni L, Fiorini C, Schneider C, Hosoda T, Rota M, Kajstura J, Anversa P, Beltrami CA, Leri A. *Effects of age and heart failure on human cardiac stem cell function*. Am J Phatol; 179(1):349-366; 2011.
- 121. Zhang B, Yeo RW, Tan KH, Lim SK. Focus on extracellular vesicles: therapeutic potential of stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles. Int J Mol Sci; 17(2); 2016.
- 122. Chaput N, Thery C. *Exosomes: immune properties and potential clinical implementations*. Semin Immunopathol; 33:419-40; 2011.
- 123. Fonsato V, Collino F, Herrera M.B., Cavallari C, Deregibus MC, Cisterna B, Bruno S, Romagnoli R, Salizzoni M, Tetta C, Camussi G. *Human liver stem cellderived microvesicles inhibit hepatoma growth in SCID mice by delivering antitumor microRNAs.* Stem Cells; 30(9):1985-98;2012.
- 124. Barile L, Lionetti V, Cervio E, Matteucci M, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Torre T, Siclari F, Moccetti T, Vassalli G. *Extracellular vesicles from human cardiac progenitor cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improve cardiac function after myocardial infarction*. Cardiovasc Res; 103:530-541; 2014.
- 125. Ibrahim AG, Cheng K, Marban E. *Exsosomes as critical agents of cardiac regeneration triggered by cell therapy*. Stem Cell Rep; 2:606-619; 2014.